ED 129 547 RC 009 535

AUTHOR TITLE Yacoub, Salah M.; And Others
The Impact of Farm Radio Forum on the Diffusion of
Innovations in Lahore and Gujrat Districts of West
Pakistan. American University of Beirut, Faculty of
Agricultural Sciences Publication No. 51, January
1973.

INSTITUTION PUB DATE NOTE

American Univ., Beirut (Lebanon).

Jan 73

36p.; Paper presented at the World Congress of Rural Sociology (4th, Torun, Poland, August 1976)

EDRS PRICE DESCRIPTORS MF-\$0.83 HC-\$2.06 Plus Postage.

*Agricultural Education; Attitudes; *Change
Strategies; Comparative Analysis; *Developing
Nations; *Educational Radio; Farmers; Foreign
Countries; Information Sources; Participation;

Program Evaluation; *Rural Development; Socioeconomic

Status: Surveys

IDENTIFIERS

*West Pakistan; *World Congress of Rural Sociology

(4th)

ABSTRACT

A random sample of 150 farmers (75 participants and 75 non-participants in radio forums) from Lahore and Gujrat districts in West Pakistan were surveyed via personal interview in 1971 to determine whether there was a relationship between: certain socioeconomic variables and farmer forum participation; radio forums and agricultural change, including acceptance of new farm practices: the most effective information sources and such changes. Chi-squares and corrected contingency coefficients were computed in order to determine any possible association between selected personal factors and farmer participation and the impact of participation upon change. Data revealed: farmers with higher levels of education, larger families, larger farms, higher incomes, organizational membership, city exposure, and favorable attitudes toward the forums tended to participate more in the radio forums than those without such characteristics; forum members had better knowledge of new agricultural practices, better attitudes toward such practices, and higher adoption rates than non-members; the radio forum program was one of the most effective information sources affecting change. Since it appeared that extension agents tended to concentrate on wealthier farmers, it was suggested that concentration on low income farmers would help mitigate the socioeconomic gap in this developing nation. (JC)

Documents acquired by ERIC include many informal unpublished materials not available from other sources. ERIC makes every effort to obtain the best copy available. Nevertheless, items of marginal reproducibility are often encountered and this affects the quality of the microfiche and hardcopy reproductions ERIC makes available via the ERIC Document Reproduction Service (EDRS). EDRS is not responsible for the quality of the original document. Reproductions supplied by EDRS are the best that can be made from the original.

THE IMPACT OF FARM RADIO FORUM ON THE DIFFUSION OF INNOVATIONS IN LAHORE AND GUJRAT DISTRICTS OF WEST PAKISTAN

U S DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH.
EDUCATION & WELFARE
NATIONAL INSTITUTE OF
EDUCATION

THIS DOCUMENT HAS BEEN REPRO-DUCEO EXACTLY AS RECEIVED FROM THE PERSON OR ORGANIZATION ORIGIN-ATING IT POINTS OF VIEW OR OPINIONS STATEO OO NOT NECESSARILY REPRE-SENT OFFICIAL NATIONAL INSTITUTE OF EDUCATION POSITION OR POLICY

By SALAH M. YACOUB FAWZI M. AL-HAJ

And MOHAMMAD AZAM KHAN

FACULTY OF AGRICULTURAL SCIENCES AMERICAN UNIVERSITY OF BEIRUT BEIRUT, LEBANON

Publication No. 51 January, 1973 FOURTH WORLD CONGRESS OF RURAL SOCIOLOGY

NINTH EUROPEAN CONGRESS OF RURAL SOCIOLOGY

August 9-13, 1976
Torun, Poland

THEME:

The Integrated Development of Human and Natural Resources:

The Contribution of Rural Sociology

Seminar 3: Technological change in agriculture and modernization of rural life: the need for integrated development.

THE IMPACT OF FARM RADIO FORUM ON THE DIFFUSION OF INNOVATIONS IN LAHORE AND GUJRAT DISTRICTS OF WEST PAKISTAN



By
SALAH M. YACOUB
FAWZI M. AL-HAJ
And
MOHAMMAD AZAM KHAN

FACULTY OF AGRICULTURAL SCIENCES AMERICAN UNIVERSITY OF BEIRUT BEIRUT, LEBANON

> Publication No. 51 January, 1973

TABLE OF CONTENTS

	PAGE
INTRODUCTION	7
METHODS AND PROCEDURES	8
PREVIOUS RESEARCH	10
HYPOTHESES	11
ANALYSIS AND FINDINGS	12
A. SELECTED PERSONAL FACTORS AND THEIR INFLUENCE ON PARTICIPATION	12
B. PARTICIPATION IN RADIO FORUMS AND ITS INFLUENCE ON CHANGE	13
1. KNOWLEDGE OF AGRICULTURAL INNOVATIONS	13
2. ATTITUDES TOWARD INNOVATIONS	14
3. ADOPTION OF IMPROVED FARM PRACTICES	15
4. PARTICIPATION IN EXTENSION TYPE ACTIVITIES	15
C. MOST EFFECTIVE INFORMATION SOURCE IN INTRODUCING CHANGE AMONG FARMERS	18
SUMMARY, CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS	19
REFERENCES CITED	24
APPENDIX A	26
APPENDIX B	31



LIST OF TABLES

Tabl	e ·	Page
1	Sample distribution over the various villages selected, Summer 1971	9
2	Relationship between selected personal factors and farmers' participation in radio forums, Summer 1971	12
3	Participation in radio forums as it relates to knowledge farmers have of improved practices, Summer 1971	14
4	Participation in radio forums as it relates to farmers' attitudes toward improved practices, Summer 1971	15
5	Participation in radio forums as it relates to adoption of improved practices, Summer 1971	16
6	Participation in radio forums as it relates to farmers' contact with extension agents, Summer 1971	17
7	Participation in radio forums as it relates to participation in demonstrations, Summer 1971	17
8	Comparison of the degree of relationships between different sources of information and the different areas of change, Summer 1971	19
9	Relationships between participation in radio	21



LIST OF APPENDIX TABLES

Table		Page
1	Education in relation to participation in radio forums, Summer 1971	26
2	Size of family in relation to participation in radio forums, Summer 1971	26
3	Size of farm in relation to participation in radio forums, Summer 1971	27
4	Organizational membership in relation to participation in radio forums, Summer 1971 1971	27
5	Income from farming in relation to participation in radio forums, Summer 1971	28
6	Exposure to city life in relation to participation in radio forums, Summer 1971 1971	28
7	Attitudes toward the forum program in relation to participation in it, Summer 1971 1971	29
8	Age in relation to participation in radio forums, Summer 1971	29
9 .	Land tenure status in relation to participation in radio forums, Summer 1971	29
10	Participation in extension-type activities as it affects adoption of improved practices, Summer 1971	30
11	Exposure to mass media as it affects adoption of improved practices, Summer 1971	30
12	Exposure to city life as it affects adoption of improved practices, Summer 1971 1971	30



IMPACT OF FARM RADIO FORUMS ON DIFFUSION OF INNOVATIONS IN LAHORE AND GUJRAT DISTRICTS OF WEST PAKISTAN'

by

Salah M. Yacoub, Fawzi M. Al-Haj and Mohammad Azam Khan?

INTRODUCTION

Developing agriculture and increasing its productivity are among the most urgent goals which governments in the developing countries have to achieve if they are to cope successfully with the increasing demand for food resulting from rapidly growing population. More than 80 percent of Pakistan's population depends on agriculture directly or indirectly (Government of Pakistan, 1961). A large number of agriculturists are subsistance farmers—who produce only enough for their own living. The aim of the government should be to bring these subsistance farmers into a market economy by raising their productivity.

Due to lack of transport facilities and adequate trained personnel in the extension wing of the agriculture department, the contact with farmers was limited, and this was a major cause for the limited diffusion of improved agricultural practices. To overcome this problem and to boost its «grow more food cam-



⁽¹⁾ Approved for publication as Journal No. 403 by the Faculty of Agricultural Sciences of the American University of Beirut on January 17, 1973.

⁽²⁾ The authors are, respectively, Associate Professor of Rural Sociology, Associate Professor of Extension Education, and a former graduate student in Extension Education, Faculty of Agricultural Sciences, American University of Beirut.

paigu», the Government of Pakistan decided to make use of radio broadcasting for its speedy distribution of news.

Keeping in view the limitations of radio being a one way communication, the «radio forum» program was introduced in 1966. Recently, however, some questions were raised by the program planners and other people working with the extension service as to the real impact which the new approach has on introducing certain changes, including the dissemination of agricultural information, among the Pakistan farmers.

Such question called for an empirical investigation to assess the situation. The specific objectives of this study were to determine: (1) Whether there is a relationship between certain selected socio-economic and psychological characteristics and farmers' participation in the radio forums, (2) Whether a relationship exists between participation in radio forums and farmers' level of knowledge regarding improved practices', their attitudes toward such practices and their adoption of them, and farmers' participation in extension type activities, and (3) Which source of information, among the various sources available to rural masses, seemed to be more effective in introducing changes among farmers.

METHODS AND PROCEDURES

The study was done in two districts of West Pakistan, namely Lahore and Gujrat districts by interviewing a sample of 150 farmers half of which were members in the radio forums, and the other half were non-members. The list of the farm radio clubs in the two districts was obtained from the program planners at Radio Pakistan of Lahore and from the Bureau of Agricultural



⁽³⁾ A radio forum is a discussion group of 10-20 farmers who listen in an organized way to the radio program, discuss the contents of the program and communicate their discussion to the program.

⁽⁴⁾ These include the improved varieties of some major crops like wheat, rice, sugarcane, cotton and maize, and the recommended fertilizers and insecticides which should be used on such major crops.

Information, Department of Agriculture, Lahore, A total number of 32 radio clubs existed in 32 villages, 18 in Lahore district and 14 in Gujrat district, with a membership of 484 farmers ranging from 10-20 in each club. Six radio clubs in six different villages, three from each district, were randomly selected. A list of their members was then obtained from the extension agents concerned and a total of 75 farmers were selected randomly. The number of farmers selected from each club ranged from 12-13 (Table 1).

The list of farmers who were not members and were living in the same six villages from which the 75 members were selected was obtained from the extension agents. This list was further verified by the village heads and the Revenue Department and a total of 75 farmers were selected randomly by taking 12-13 from each village.

Table 1. Sample distribution over the various villages selected, summer 1971.

Name of village	Name of	Number	mber of respondents		
or town	district	Members	Non-Members	Total	
Luliani	Lahore	13	13	26	
Shamke Bhattian	Lahore	12	· 12	26 24	
Ali Raza Abad	Lahore	13	13		
Lalamusa	Gujrat	13	13	26 26	
Thekerian	Gujrat	12	12	26 24	
Deona	Gujrat	12	12	24 24	
Total		75	75	150	

A questionnaire was prepared and data were obtained during the summer of 1971 by using face-to-face interviewing. The first few interviews were conducted in the office of the extension agent, however, it was felt that it was difficult to have privacy with the interviewees. Farm and home visits were utilized thereafter.



PREVIOUS RESEARCH

The number of studies which dealt with the influence of selected factors such as age, education, size of farm, tenure status, organizational membership, income derived from farming, exposure to city life and attitudes on social participation is large indeed. Only few selected studies on organizational participation which had a direct bearing on the formulation of the research problem under investigation were reviewed. In their study on factors influencing farmers' participation in a Lebanese village cooperative, Yacoub and Haddad (1970:7) found that personal characteristics such as tenure status, size of farm owned, level of education, age and income derived from farming did not affect farmers' participation in the cooperative, while their attitudes toward it affected their participation significantly and in a positive way. Hardee (1961) reported a positive relationship between social stratification and participation in Australian rural community, and Benvenuti (1962:254-255) reported similar findings for a sample of Dutch farmers. Reissman (1953) found that income, occupation, or education (which were used as indicators of stratification) were positively related to participation; those in the higher social status categories participated more than those in the lower social status categories. Van Es and Whittenbarger (1970:20) found that participation in farm organizations and extension programs were significantly and positively related to both farm ownership and size of the farm owned. Hodge and Treiman (1968) found that family income, education, and occupation differed in their effects on affiliation and church attendance. Family income, for example, exerted a larger effect on number of memberships than it did on church attendance. Beal (1956) found that age, education, size of farm, and tenure status were not cor-



⁽⁵⁾ This is especially true if one considers adoption of new farm practices as an example of social participation (Reeder, 1967). Rural sociologists have completed over 286 diffusion studies since the classic investigation of hybrid seed corn adoption by Ryan and Gross in 1943 (Rogers, 1962, p. 4). One hundred studies dealing with adoption of new ideas and practices were reviewed by lionberger (1960) and over 500 studies on the same subject were reviewed by Rogers (1962). The reader is advised to refer to these sources for a thorough review of previous research on the subject.

related with participation, but that general social participation and socioeconomic status were related. Some of the larger correlations in his study involved dynamic variables such as attitudes toward and beliefs about the cooperative. Folkman (1955) found a positive relationship between farm ownership and farmers' attitudes toward the cooperative and their participation in it.

Studies relating exclusively to radio as an educational medium in the diffusion of farm information are few in number and throw a little light on the role actually played by radio in the sequence of influences involved in bringing about a change. Rao (1966;97-100) demonstrated that communication through radio helps a person find alternative ways of living, raises family's economic status, and motivates the illiterate to become literate. Shea et al. (1954;216-223) found that participation in radio forums particularly affected farmers' attitude toward department of agriculture and the related agencies. Their participation in these organizations was increased. Roy et al. (1969;103) maintained that increase in knowledge and rate of adoption of agricultural and health innovations were significant in radio forum villages. He also demonstrated that participation in radio forums increased the aspirational level of farmers. There was a significant relationship between the degree of participation and the amount of change,

HYPOTHESES

The following three major hypotheses were tested in this study:

- Participation in radio forum program is influenced by farmer's age, level of education, size of farm owned or operated, land tenure status, size of farm family, membership in other organizations, income derived from agriculture, rate of exposure to city life, and opinions and attitudes toward the radio forum program.
- 2. Participation in radio forums is related positively to

farmers' attitudes toward selected improved agricultural practices, their knowledge and rate of adoption of such practices and their participation in extension type of activities such as attendance of meetings and demonstrations.

3. Compared to other sources of information available to farmers, radio forum program is the most effective source in introducing change among them.

ANALYSIS AND FINDINGS

A. Selected Personal Factors and Their Influence on Participation

As it was hypothesized, personal characteristics such as education, size of family, size of farm, organizational membership, income derived from farming, exposure to city life and attitudes toward radio forums were significantly related to farmers' participation" in radio forums. Age and land tenure status, however, were not found to be related to participation in radio forums (Table 2 and Appendix A, Tables 1-9).

Table 2. Relationship between selected personal factors and farmers' participation in radio forums, summer 1971.

Factor	X	d. f.	$\bar{\mathbf{c}}$
Factor Age Education Size of family Size of farm Land tenure Organizational membership	2.77 9.18* 9.46** 15.06** 0.76 12.29**	3 3 2 4 1	0.18 0.32 0.36 0.40 0.11 0.48

⁽⁶⁾ This was measured simply in terms of whether respondents were members in the radio forums or not. Once they are members, they automatically have to attend the meetings of the forums and participate in the discussion of the farm radio program.



Income from farming Exposure to city life Attitudes toward the helpfulness	58.48*** 11.08***	٠	2 1	0.77 0.41
of the radio forums	66.24***		1	0.88

^{*} Significant at 0.05 level.

B. Participation in Radio Forums and Its Influence on Change

It was hypothesized that participation in radio forums will influence farmers' knowledge of certain recommended agricultural practices, their attitudes toward such practices, their adoption of them, and their participation in extension type activities such as making more contacts with extension agents in their areas and attending more demonstrations.

1. Knowledge of agricultural innovations:

Participation in radio forums seemed to influence the level of knowledge farmers have of the improved varieties of certain major crops such as wheat, rice, sugarcane, cotton and maize; and of the recommended fertilizers and insecticides which should be applied on such crops. About two fifths of the non-participants had «low» level of knowledge of the improved practices, whereas four fifths of the participants as compared to about one fifth of the non-participants had «high» level of knowledge re-



^{**} Significant at 0.01 level.

^{***} Significant at 0.001 level.

⁽⁷⁾ A level of knowledge score was developed for each respondent by asking him 11 questions (See Appendix B, Part I) related to the improved agricultural practices being recommended and assigning a score of «1» if he gave the correct answer to the question and a score of «0» if he gave a wrong answer. The correct answers for each geographical area were determined and identified by its extension agent. Total knowledge score was obtained by adding the scores received on all eleven questions and it ranged from 0·11. Respondents were then grouped into three categories: those having «low» level of knowledge with a score ranging from 0·7, «medium» level of knowledge with a score ranging from 8·10, and «high» level of knowledge with a score of 11 and above.

garding such practices (Table 3). The relationship between participation in radio forums and knowledge of the recommended agricultural practices was significant at the 0.001 level. The amount of relationship measured by the \overline{C} value was 0.81.

Table 3. Participation in radio forums as it relates to knowledge farmers have of improved practices, summer 1971.

	Participants		Non-Par	Total		
Level of Knowledge	No.	00	No.	%	No.	0,0
Low	0	0	33	44	33	22
Medium	15	20	29	3 9	44	30
High	60	80	13	17	73	48
Total	75	100	75	100	150	100

 $X^2 = 67.71$; 2 d.f.; P < 0.001; $\overline{C} = 0.81$.

2. Attitudes toward innovations:

Respondents' attitudes' toward the recommended farm practices seemed to be related to participation in radio forums. More than one third of the forums' non-members as compared to none of the members had unfavourable attitudes toward the selected agricultural innovations, whereas almost all the members and one fourth of the non-members had «highly» favourable attitudes toward the improved practices (Table 4). The relationship between participation in radio forums and attitudes toward innovations was significant at the 0.00i level. The degree of relationship was 0.90.



⁽⁸⁾ Attitudes were measured by using seven different questions (See Appendix B, Part II) and assigning scores to their answers. A total attitude score was then obtained for each respondent by adding the scores received on all seven questions. The total attitude score ranged from 0-10 and respondents were then classified on the basis of the score which they received as follows: respondents with «least» favourable attitudes having a score of 3-5, «medium» favourableness having a score of 6-9, and whighly» favourable attitudes having a score of more than 9.

Table 4. Participation in radio forums as it relates to farmers' attitudes toward improved practices, summer 1971.

	Participants		Non-Par	Total		
Attitude	No.	ο̈́O	No.	% '	No.	%
Least favourable	0	0	28	37	28	18
Medium favourablenes	s 1	1	30	40	31	20
Highly favourable	74	99	17	23	91	62
Total	75	100	75	100	150	

 $X^2 = 87.67$; 2 d.f.; P < 0.001; $\overline{C} = 0.90$

3. Adoption of improved farm practices:

Farmers' participation in the radio forums and their rate of adoption" of the improved farm practices were positively and significantly related. Two fifths of the non-participants as compared to none of the participants were found to have «low» rate of adoption (Table 5). On the other hand, four fifths of the participants as compared to one fifth of the non-participants were found to have high adoption rates.

4. Participation in extension-type activities:

Extension-type activities include the contacts which farmers had with extension agents, such as home and farm visits, office calls and attendance of demonstrations conducted by agents. It was hypothesized that farmers' participation in radio forums and their participation in extension-type activities will be related to



⁽⁹⁾ Six questions (See Appendix B, Part III) were used to measure the rate of adoption for each respondent. Farmers were asked whether they follow the recommended practices and an adoption score was developed by assigning «I» point if the farmer was using the practice and a zero point if he was not following it at all or was not using it properly. A total score was obtained by adding the scores received on all six questions and respondents were then classified into three main categories based on total adoption scores they possessed as follows: those with alove a doption rate have a score ranging from 0-2, «medium» adoption have a score of 3-4, and «high» adoption rate have a score of above 4.

each other, because after listening to radio forum programs farmers' interest to acquire more knowledge about the contents of such programs will increase. During this information seeking stage, farmers need to expose themselves to more sources of information particularly to demonstrations and contacts with extension agents.

Table 5. Participation in radio forums as it relates to adoption of improved practices, summer 1971.

	Participants		Non-Participants		Total	
Adoption rate	No.	^ %	No.	%	No.	%
Low	0	0	29	39	29	20
Medium	14	19	33	44	47	30
High	61	81	13	17	74	50
Total	75	100	75	100	150	100

 $X^{\circ} =$ 67.82 ; 2 d.f. ; P $_{<}$ 0.001 ; \overline{C} = 0.081

Both participants and non-participants in the radio forums were found to have made several contacts during the year preceding the interview with the extension agents in their areas. None of the respondents, except one, were found to have made no contacts at all with the extension agent of his area. When comparing the frequency of meetings which both participants and non-participants had with extension agents however, it was found that 85% of the participants as compared to 45% of the non-participants contacted the extension agent «very often» (Table 6). On the other hand, 55% of the non-participants as compared to only 14% of the participants contacted the agent «occasionally». The relationship between participation in forums and frequency of contacts the respondents had with extension agents was significant at the 0.01 level.

A large majority of the respondents (96%) attended demonstrations «occasionally» or «very often» (Table 7). Only 4% indicated that they never attended any demonstration. When those

Table 6. Participation in radio forums as it relates to farmers' contacts with extension agents, summer 1971.

Frequency of Annual	Partic	ipants	Non-Par	ticipants	To	otal
Contacts	No.	%	No.	%	No.	%
Very often (49-120 contacts)	64	85	34	45	98	65
Occasionally (1.48 contacts)	10	14	41	, 55	51	34
Never (0 contacts)	1	1	0	0	1	1
Total	75 .,	100	75	100.	150	100

 $X^2 = 24.34$; 2 d.f.; P < 0.01; $\overline{C} = 0.59$

who attended demonstrations were asked how often they attended them, 97% of the participants in the radio forums as compared to 35% of the non-participants attended them «very often». On the other hand 59% of the non-participants in the forums and only 3% of the participants attended them «occasionally». The relationship between participation in the forums and attendance of demonstrations was significant at the 0.001 level.

Table 7. Participation in radio forums as it relates to participation in demonstrations, summer 1971.

	Participants		Non-Participants		Total	
attendance	No.	%	No.	%	No.	%
Very often (8-14 times)	73	97	26	35	99	66
Occasionally (1-7 times)	2	3	44	59	46	30
Never (0 time)	o	0	5	6	5	4
Total	75	100	75	100	150	100

 $X^{\circ}=61.35$; 2 d.f.; P<0.001; $\overline{C}=0.80$

C. Most Effective Information Source in Introducing Change Among Farmers

In this study four types of information sources which usually affect changes in rural areas of Pakistan were considered, and their impact on changing farmer's knowledge of improved practices, their attitudes toward such practices and their rate of adoption of them were compared. These four types of information sources were:

- 1. Participation in extension-type activities which as meetings with extension agents and attending demonstrations.
- 2. Exposure to mass media¹¹ such as newspapers, agricultural magazines and radios.
- 3. Exposure to city life12, and

(11) Exposure to mass media was measured by asking respondents how often they read newspapers and agricultural magazines, and how often they listen to radio. A zero point was given for «rarely», one point for «once a week». two points for «twice or thrice a week», and three points for «daily». An exposure to mass media score was then developed for each respondent and it ranged from 0-9. Those with a score of 0-3 were considered as having «low» exposure to mass media, 4-6 as «medium»,

and 7-9 as "high".

(12) This variable was measured in terms of number of times the respondent visited the city during the last 12 months. If he visited the city 12 or more times he is considered as being "highly" exposed to city life, while if his visits during the year did not exceed 3-4 times he is considered as being "little" exposed to city life.



⁽¹⁰⁾ Two questions were used to measure this variable (See Appendix B, Part IV): the first revealed the number of times respondents met with extension agents in their villages and received agricultural information from them during the year preceeding the interview, and the second revealed the number of times they attended demonstrations conducted by extension agents. For the first question, a zero point was given to those who never met with extension agents, one point for those who met with him 25 times or less, two points for meeting with him 26-48 times, and three points for 49-120 times. For the second question, a zero point was given if the respondent never attended any demonstration, one point for four demonstrations or less, two points for attending 5-7 demonstrations, and three points for 8-14 demonstrations. A score for participation in extension-type activities was then developed for each respondent and it ranged from 0-6. Those having a score of 1-2 were classified as having a whigh.

Participation in radio forum program.

All four sources of information were found to be important in favourably changing farmers' knowledge and rate of adoption of improved farm practices and their attitudes toward them (See Table 8 and Appendix A, Tables 10-12). In order to determine which one of the four sources had the greatest impact on change, the amount of relationship, as measured by the value of corrected contingency coefficient (\overline{C}) , between the area of change and using each of the four sources was examined. It is assumed that the higher the degree of relationship the greater the impact of the source on the area of change. It was found that, other things being equal, the impact of participation in radio forums on introducing change in the three areas investigated was the greatest. This was followed by participation in extension-type activities and exposure to city life. Exposure to mass media seemed to be least influential since most farmers in West Pakistan are illiterate and their use of printed material becomes limited.

Table 8. Comparison of the degree of relationships between different sources of information and the different areas of change, summer 1971.

	Degree of relationship (value of C					
Source of in- formation	Change in knowledge	Change in attitudes	Change in rate of adoption			
Participation in extension-						
type activities	0.78	0.75	0.76			
Exposure to mass media	0.45	0.48	0.45			
Exposure to city life Participation in radio	0.72	0.74	0.77			
forum program	0.81	0.90	0.81			

SUMMARY, CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

The purposes of this study were to determine: (1) whether

there is a relationship between certain socio-economic variables and farmers' participation in the radio forums, (2) the impact of radio forums on introducing certain changes, including acceptance of new farm practices, among the Pakistani farmers, and (3) the most effective information source in introducing such changes among them.

A random sample of 150 farmers, 75 participants in radio forums and 75 non-participants, was selected from two districts of West Pakistan. Data were obtained by personal interviews during the summer of 1971.

Chi-squares and corrected contingency coefficients were computed in order to determine any possible association between selected personal factors and farmers' participation in radio forums, and the impact of participation in such forums on the various changes considered.

The data revealed that farmers with higher levels of education, larger families, larger farms, and higher farm incomes, and farmers who were members in other farm organizations, were exposed to city life, and had a favourable attitudes toward the forums tended to participate more in the radio forums than those who did not possess such characteristics. Farmers' ages and their land tenure status did not affect their participation in the forums. One may conclude from such findings that there is a tendency for extension agents who are responsible for organizing the forums to concentrate on the well-to-do farmers and try to select them as members on the account of the subsistance farmers who needed help the most. This tendency is agaist the basic philosophy of extension service and it can contribute to the broadening of the socio-economic gap in a developing country such as Pakistan. It is recommended, therefore, that concentrating the activities on the well-to-do farmers should be discouraged and a uniformity be maintained in order to reach the low income farmers.

The data also revealed that members of the forums had

better knowledge of the new agricultural practices than the non-members. Furthermore, their attitudes towards such practices were more favourable than those of the non-members; and adoption of the practices by the former group was higher than that by the latter. Members of the forums participated in extension-type activities more than the non-forum members (Table 9). Thus, it is recommended that membership in radio forums should be open to all peasants, especially to tenants and farmers with small size holdings, if they are to change and develop.

Table 9. Relationship between participation in radio forums and various changes, a summary table.

Various changes considered	Xº	d.f.	Ē
Knowledge about agricultural			_
practices Attitudes toward new agricultural	67.71*	2	0.81
practices	87.67*	2	0.90
Adoption of new practices Participation in extension-type activities	67.82*	2	0.81
(I) Contacts with extension			
agent (2) Attending demon-	39.85*	2	0.67
strations	44.98*	2	0.70

^{*} Significant at 0.001 level.

It was evident from the findings that the radio forum program was one of the most important sources of information (compared to other sources being used) in conveying useful information regarding agriculture among the rural masses of the two districts studied. If radio forums are to increase their impact, it is recommended that the small number of organized and registered radio forums already functioning in Pakistan be increased by organizing and strengthening the large number of informal radio forums which are available throughout the rural

villages of Pakistan. There is a definite need for the field staff of the agricultural extension department to increase the quality and the quantity of these radio forums and to have them cover a much wider agricultural area than that already covered.

The multi-organizational sponsorship of the radio forum program constituted one of its major limitations. Being sponsored by the Ministry of Information and Broadcasting at the central government level, the Bureau of Agricultural Information, and by the Extension wing of the Agricultural Department, each tried to put the merits of the program under its own name and blamed the others for any flow in the program. Lack of coordination among these sponsoring agencies was evident and if the program is to succeed a higher degree of coordination among the agencies concerned must be achieved.

In addition to the recommendations stated above, the following may be advanced to cover three different levels: The Government, the Agricultural Extension Department, Radio Pakistan, and the Government.

A. Agricultural Extension Department:

- 1. The radio forum program, being one of the extension teaching methods, had also some close associations with other activities of the department. A close working relationship between the people working in the field and those responsible for operating the program should be developed and maintained.
- 2. The field staff should be given adequate training to bring their knowledge up-to-date and to help them cope with the diverse problems facing the rural population of Pakistan.
- 3. In order to determine the role of the radio forum program at different stages of the adoption process, a comparative study of the effectiveness of different teaching methods should be made.

B. Radio Pakistan:

- 1. The administration at various radio stations should always keep in mind the importance of agriculture in the country. Sufficient time, therefore, should be allocated to this program so that the speaker can thoroughly explain the problem under consideration and the alternative solutions.
- 2. The department of agriculture may be required to provide only capable and experienced persons to work with the program so that they can organize it more effectively.
- 3. Only well experienced, qualified and reputed persons should be allowed to speak on the radio because farmers give high value to radio talks and try to act according to what they hear from radio. Personal interests and publicity should be discouraged.

C. The Government:

- 1. The government has to supply the agriculture department with a great number of trained personnel. The staff should be properly motivated to perform their jobs more effectively.
- 2. The government should allocate more budget for the radio forum to make further improvements according to the changing conditions and needs.
- 3. Agricultural inputs like seed, fertilizer, credit and other related material should be made available to farmers at the proper time and at reasonable prices. Irrigation facilities also need improvements. A forum must be supported by actual and effective agricultural policies if its goals are to be achieved.
- 4. The marketing system is also defective. Farmers do not find facilities for disposal of their surplus produce. This was one of the main hurdles in adoption of new agricultural practices. An efficient and easy marketing system should be provided.

REFERENCES CITED

- Beal, G.M. 1956 «Additional hypotheses in participation research.» Rural Sociology 21 (June) 249-256.
- Benvenuti, Bruno. 1962. Farming in Cultural Change. Assen, the Netherlands: Royal Van Gorcum.
- Folkman, W.S. 1955. Membership Relation in Farmers' Purchasing Cooperatives. Fayetteville: University of Arkansas Agricultural Experiment Station, Bulletin 556.
- Government of Pakistan. 1961. Population Census of Pakistan. Compiled and published by the Census Commissioner. (Karachi: Manager of Publications).
- Hardee, J. Gilbert. 1961. «Social Structure and Participation in an Australian Rural Community.» Rural Sociology 26 (September): 240-251.
- Hodge, Robert, and Donald J. Treiman. 1968. «Social Participation and Social Status.» American Sociological Review 33 (October): 722-740.
- Lionberger, H.F. 1960. Adoption of New Ideas and Practices.
 The Iowa State University Press, Ames, Iowa.
- Rao, Y.V. Lakshamane. 1966. Communication and Development, A Study in Two Indian Villages. University of Minnesota Press, Minneapolis.
- Reeder, W.W. 1967. «A theory of decision making and social action.» Ithaca: Department of Rural Sociology, Cornell University (unpublished).
- Reissman, Leonard. 1954. «Class, Leisure and Social Participation.» American Sociological Review, 19 (February), pp. 76-84.



- Rogers, E.M. 1962. Diffusion of Innovations, The Free Press of Glencoe, New York.
- Roy, Prodipto, F.B. Waisanen and E.M. Rogers. 1969. The Impact of Communication on Rural Development: An Investigation in Costa Rica and India. UNESCO, Paris.
- Shea, Albert A. et. al. 1954. Canada's Farm Radio Forum. UNESCO, Paris.
- Van Es, J.C. and Robert L. Whittenbarger. 1970 «Farm owner-ship, political participation, and other social participation in central Brazil.» Rural Sociology 35 (March).
- Yacoub, Salah M. and Antoine Haddad. 1970. Factors Influencing Farmers' Participation in a Lebanese Village Cooperative. Beirut: Faculty of Agricultural Sciences, American University of Beirut, Publication No. 48.

APPENDIX A

Table 1. Education in relation to participation in radio forums, summer 1971.

	Partic	Participants		Non-Participants		Total	
Level of Education	No.	0, io	No.	0/0	No.	0,0	
Illiterate	16	21	27	36	43	28	
Read and write only	17	23	24	32	41	27	
Elementary education	20	27	10	13	30	20	
High school education and above	22	29	14	19	36	25	
Total	75	100	75	100	150	100	

 $X^{a}\,=\,9.18$; 3 d.f. ; P $_{\odot}$ =0.05 ; $\overline{C}\,=\,0.32$

Table 2. Size of family in relation to participation in radio forums, summer 1971.

	Partici	ipants	Non-Par	ticipants	Total	
Size of Family	No.		No.	⁰ /0	No.	0∕ ₀
2-4 members	14	19	31	41	45	30
5-7 members	55	73	41	3 5	96	64
8 or more members	6	8	3	4	9	6
Total	75	100	75	100	150	100

 X^{α} = 9.46 ; 2 d.f. ; P $_{\odot}$ 0.01 ; \overline{C} = 0.36

Table 3. Size of farm in relation to participation in radio forums, summer 1971.

Size of Farm	Partic	cipants	Non-Participants		Total	
(in acres)	No.	<u>0</u> ∕0	No.	0 ₀ .	No.	%
1 — 10	1	1	12	16	13	8
11 — 20	16	21	22	29	38	26
21 — 30	32	43	28	37	60	40
31 — 40	18	24	8	11	26	18
More than 40	8	11	5	7	13	8
Total	75	100	75	100	150	100

 $X^2 = 15.06$; 4 d.f.; P < 0.01; $\overline{C} = 0.40$

Table 4. Organization membership in relation to participation in radio forums, summer 1971.

Membership in	Partic	Participants		Non-Participants		Total	
organizations	No.	%	No.	⁰ ⁄ ₀	No.	%	
None	12	16	33	44	45	30	
Member in one organization	16	21	6	8	22	14	
Member in two organizations	47	63	36	48	83	56	
Total	75	100	75	100	150	100	

 $X^2 = 12.29$; d.f.; P < 0.01; $\overline{C} = 0.48$

Table 7. Attitudes toward the helpfulness of the forum program in relation to participation in it, summer 1971.

	Partic	ipants	Non-Par	ticipants	Total	
Attitudes	No.	%	No.	%	No.	%
Much helpful	74	99	26	35	100	66
Helpful to some extent	1	1	49	65	50	34
Not helpful	0	0	0	0	0	0
Total	75	100	75	100	150	100

 $\rm X^{2}$ = 66.24 ; 1 d.f. ; P $\,<$ 0.001 ; \overline{C} = 0.88

Table 8. Age in relation to participation in radio forums, summer 1971.

_	Participants		Non-Participants		Total	
Age	No.	%	No.	%	No.	%
25 years or less	2	3	1	1	3	
26 — 35 years	21	28	14	19	35	24
36 — 45 years	41	5 5	44	59	85	
Above 45 years	11	14	16	21	27	18
Total	75	100	75	100	150	100

 $X^{_2}\,=\,2.77$; 3 d.f. ; P $\,>\,$ 0.05 ; $\overline{C}\,=\,0.18$

Table 9. Land tenure status in relation to participation in radio forums, summer 1971.

Pri -	Participants		Non-Participants		Total	
Tenure Status	No.	%	No.	%	No.	%
Owner operators	70	93	67	89	137	92
Tenants	5	7	8	11	13	8
Total	75	100	75	100	150	100

 $X^{\alpha}=\,0.76$; 1 d.f. ; P $_{>}$ 0.05 ; $\overline{C}=\,0.11$



Table 10. Participation in extension-type activities as it affects adoption of improved practices, summer 1971.

Level of		ow pation		dium ipation		igh cipation	To	เล๋ใ
adoption	No.	96	No.	0.0	No.	0.0	No.	95
Low	24	60	5	6	0	0	29	19
Medium	14	35	27	32	6	24	47	31
High	2	5	53	62	19	76	74	50
Total	40	100	85	100	25	100	150	100

 $X^{2}\,=\,70.07$; 4 d.f. ; P $<\,0.01$; $\overline{C}\,=\,0.76$

Table 11. Exposure to mass media as it affects adoption of improved practices, summer 1971.

Level of	Low Exposure			Medium Exposure		High Exposure		Total	
adoption	No.	0/0	No.	0,6	No.	%	No.	%	
Low	21	30	6	16	2	5	29	20	
Medium	27	38	8	21	12	29	47	31	
High	23	32	24	63	27	66	74	49	
Total	71	100	38	100	41	100	150	100	

 $X^{\alpha} =$ 18.75 ; 4 d.f. ; P < 0.001 ; $\overline{C} =$ 0.45

Table 12. Exposure to city life as it affects adoption of improved practices, summer 1971.

Level of	Highly exposed		Little 6	exposed	To	tal
adoption	No.	· %	No.	%	No.	%
Low	14	11	15	88	29	19
Medium	45	34	2	12	47	32
High	74	59	0	. 0	74	49
Total	133	100	17	· 100	150	100

 $X^{2}\,=\,54.72$; 2 d.f.'; $P\,<\,0.001$; $\overline{C}\,=\,0.77$

APPENDIX B

Part I. Questions Used to Measure «Knowledge of Agricultural Innovations»:

1.	Check	the three ma	tjor crops grown in your area
	1.		
	2.	Wheat	
	3.	Sugercane	
	4.	Cotton	
	5.		
	6.	Any other	(specify)
2.	Do you of the	i know the na first major c	mes of one or two improved varieties rop grown in your area?
	1.	Yes (specify	y) ————
	2.	No	
3.	Do you of the	know the nar second major	nes of one or two improved varieties crop grown in your area?
	1.)
	2.	No	
4.	Do you	know the nan	nes of one or two improved varieties
	of the t	hird major cr	op grown in your area?
	2.	No	
5.	Do you area?	know which	fertilizers are mostly used in this
	1.	Yes (specify)	
	2.	No	32
			31
			



		r e elle a constanting par
,	6.	Do you know what are the fertilizer requirements per
		acre for the dalta pine variety of cotton?
		1. Yes (specify)
		2. No
	7.	How about the fertilizer requirement per acre for the Maxipak wheat variety?
		1. Yes (specify)
•		2. No
•	8.	What do you think are the advantages of using improved seed?
•		1. Better yielding than local
		2. Disease resistant
		3. 1 and 2
		4. Any other (specify) —————
		5. Do not know
	9. •	Do you know the major diseases and insects of the first major crop grown in your area? 1. Yes (specify) Diseases Insects
		2. No
	10.	Do you know the major diseases and insects of the second major crop grown in your area?
		1. Yes (specify) Discases
		Insects ————
		2. No
	11.	How about the major diseases and insects of the third major crop grown in the area?
•		22
		32
gar Historia		33

1. Yes (specify)	
Diseases ————	
2. No	
Part II. Questions Used to Measure «Attitudes Toward Innovations»:	
 Do you feel that insecticides and chemical sprays have some adverse effects on the quality of produce? Yes No Do not know 	
2. Which of the following best expresses your feelings about fertilizers?	
 Very useful Somewhat useful Not useful at all Do not know 	
 3. Which of the following best expresses your feelings about insecticides and chemical sprays? 1. Very useful 2. Somewhat useful 3. Not useful at all 4. Do not know 	
4. Would you advise others to use improved seed on their farms?	
1. Yes 2. No	
5. Would you advise others to use fertilizers? 1. Yes 2. No 34	
33	

	to the start of th
	6. What about insecticides and chemical sprays?
	1. Yes
	2. No
	7. In general what is your opinion about improved seed?
	7. In general what is your opinion as
	1. Very good
	2. Fairly good3. Not good
	Part III. Questions Used to Measure «Adoption of Improved
	the improved varieties for the first hape
	1. Did you use the improved crop you grow?
	1. Yes (specify)
	1. 165 (5)
	2. No
	and porioties for the second major
	2. Did you use the improved varieties for the second major
	crop you grow? 1. Yes (specify)
	1. Yes (specify)
	2. No
	3. Did you use the improved varieties for the third major
	arour arour/
	1. Yes (specify)
	2. No
nd to the	4. (If fertilizers were used, ask) Which fertilizers did you
	and for which crop.
•	Fertilizer
	34
	Out output
	35
A Comment	00



	Enunya and I and a state	
	Sprays and/or insecticides Reasons	
6.	How would you rate vowcelf in males	
	How would you rate yourself in relation to other farmers in your village with respect to adoption of new agricultural ideas?	
	 Among the first to adopt Above average 	
	3. Average	
	4. Below average	
	5. Among the last to adopt	
Part IV type Ac	7. Questions Used to Measure «Participation in Extension-tivities»:	
1.	How often have you contacted the extension agent in your area and received agricultural information from him during last year?	
1.	your area and received agricultural information from him during last year?	
1.	your area and received agricultural information from him during last year?	
2.	him during last year? 1. Very often (specify number) ————————————————————————————————————	
	your area and received agricultural information from him during last year? 1. Very often (specify number) 2. Occasionally (specify number) 3. Never How often have you attended the demonstrations which were conducted by the agent in your village during last	
	him during last year? 1. Very often (specify number) ————————————————————————————————————	
	him during last year? 1. Very often (specify number) ————————————————————————————————————	
	him during last year? 1. Very often (specify number) ————————————————————————————————————	
	him during last year? 1. Very often (specify number) ————————————————————————————————————	